FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/27/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/24/2025 4:09 PM

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 84796-1-I Case #: 1038241

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NIGEL HOGAN,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 richard@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Nigel Hogan, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. The Court of Appeals issued a partially published opinion concerning GR 37 on December 2, 2024. The court denied Mr. Hogan's motion to reconsider on January 7, 2025.

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Whether a claimed violation of GR 37 is preserved for review where the objecting party cites to GR 37 and notes for the record that the juror sought to be removed by peremptory appears to be transgender or gender non-conforming?

2. Whether in this prosecution against a Black man, an objective observer *could* conclude that race was *a factor* in the prosecutor's use of a peremptory challenge against a juror where the reasons for the strike included (1) the juror's concerns about the criminal justice system and its unfair treatment of historically underrepresented groups and (2) a

vague and untimely concern that the juror appeared "uncomfortable"?

3. Whether an appellate court's review of a claimed violation of GR 37 is de novo, or does the appellate court apply a lesser standard that defers to factual findings by the trial court?

4. Whether a statement of additional authorities under RAP 10.8 is limited *only* to authority decided after completion of the briefing where the plain language of the rule has no limitation and this Court has held otherwise?

5. Whether this Court should adopt the "objective observer" standard in administering the constitutional prohibition against sex discrimination in jury selection where it has done so as to race discrimination and sex discrimination in jury selection is improper for similar reasons?

6. Whether an objective observer could conclude that sex or gender was a factor in the prosecutor's use of a peremptory challenge against a juror who appeared to be transgender or

gender non-conforming and who was concerned about the criminal justice system's treatment of historically underrepresented groups?

7. Whether in excluding highly probative medical records based on a speculative risk of confusion, the trial court misapplied ER 403 or deprived the defendant of their constitutional right to present a complete defense?

8. Whether a charge of felony murder predicated on second degree assault is constitutionally deficient where the charging document does not identify the elements of the predicate assault?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hogan was in his car parked on the street with his girlfriend and mother of his children, Elenise Falo, when an SUV pulled up and boxed him in. 2RP 871, 939, 961, 1007, 1050, 1262, 1475. Four or five men got of the vehicle and rushed Mr. Hogan and Ms. Falo. 2RP 871-82, 1075, 1153-54, 1262.

Mr. Hogan had a long running feud with some of these men, which included brothers Terrence and Jerome Jackson. Br. of App. at 7-9. About 5 to 10 minutes earlier, Mr. Hogan and Jerome had tried to settle their differences in a fight. 2RP 865-67, 930-32, 1149, 1258. Mr. Hogan won that fight and Jerome left, but Jerome had returned with his brother and others. Jerome and most of these men, if not all of them, were intoxicated. 2RP 661, **702**, 903, 919, 1220; Br. of App. at 11-12.

Jerome opened the passenger side door of Mr. Hogan's car and hit Ms. Falo. 1RP 688; 2RP 877-78, 940-43, 1007, 1089, 1254-55, 1264. Meanwhile, Terence came towards Mr. Hogan aggressively, accusing Mr. Hogan of jumping Jerome. 1RP 1489; 2RP 1265-66, Mr. Hogan grabbed his handgun from the car and stepped out. 2RP 88, 1254, 1265.

Mr. Hogan repeatedly warned everyone to back up and retreated to the back end of his car. 2RP 943-44, 1084 1185, 1265-67. But one of the men, a large man named Paul Carter,

lunged towards Mr. Hogan, so Mr. Hogan, fearing for himself and Ms. Falo, shot him. 2RP 873-75, 1004, 1087, 1269-71,

1279. 1305. Mr. Carter survived. 1RP 1215; 2RP 1299.

Jerome, however, continued to hit Ms. Falo. 2RP 1271. To stop Jerome, Mr. Hogan shot him. 2RP 1278, 1304. Mr. Hogan did not intend to kill, but Jerome died. 2RP 654, 1272. Scared, Mr. Hogan left in his car with Ms. Falo. 2RP

1308. Ms. Falo went to the hospital for treatment. 2RP 1164, 1208.

Officers later found one of Ms. Falo's hoop earring, which had come off during Jerome's assault upon her, on the ground near Jerome's body. 2RP 1158; Ex. 24, slide 104.

The prosecution initially declined to charge Mr. Hogan, but three years later in October 2018, the prosecution charged Mr. Hogan with second degree murder of Jerome and first degree assault of Mr. Carter. CP 1-2.

Mr. Hogan is Black. CP 311. During jury selection, the prosecutor *repeatedly* identified Mr. Hogan's race as an issue

for discussion and whether his status as a "person of color"

would affect jurors' abilities to be fair:

And as you can see *the defendant here is a person of color*. How do you feel about being part of a case involving a *-- a person of color* and the Seattle Police Department?

Are you going to be judging evidence that's presented differently or holding the State to a different standard because of your feelings about the system or because of -- of the defendant being a person of color?

What about if you sat as a juror on this case and you believed at the end of all the evidence and deliberations that the State has met its burden of proving all of the elements beyond a reasonable doubt, do you think you could find the defendant guilty? Go back and tell your friends and family and community that you found a person of color guilty.

how would that make you feel to being asked to determine whether *a person of color* has committed a crime in our community or not? how are you going to feel about going back and telling your friends and family that you were part of finding *another person of color* guilty?

how would you feel, um, if you, in fact, felt that the State had met its burden and proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Hogan submitted [sic] this crime, would it be hard for you to go back and tell your friends and family that you had participated in convicting *a person of color*?

RP 743-45, 830-34 (emphases added).

Potential juror 40 expressed the view that "there has been a history of law enforcement and the criminal justice system being unfair and unlawful to historically unrepresented and disenfranchised groups of people." IRP 802. This was consistent with the juror 40's answer to a question about whether the juror had a strong opinion about the criminal justice system. Ex. 104. Juror 40 also agreed that, "We sometimes make judgments and have preconceptions about other people based on their race or ethnic background." Ex. 104. Juror 40 explained: People, depending on how you grew up, can develop racial biases towards people of color and people with different ethnic backgrounds. This happens because racial biases are deeply rooted in our country and its history. The cause of this can be from media, family, friends, lack of knowledge on the subject matter, etc. This sort of racial bias can be seen through political ideology, beliefs, and how an individual acts towards someone.

Ex. 104.

Potential jurors 33 and 34 expressed similar views to that of juror 40. IRP 743-49. Juror 33 recognized bias in the justice against people of color and Black men, and expressed skepticism of the Seattle Police Department. IRP 743-45. Juror 34 recognized historical bias by law enforcement and the courts "against people of color and minority groups." IRP 746. Like juror 40, these jurors believed they could be fair and would hold the State to its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. IRP 745-49, 803.

The prosecution used its first two peremptories on jurors 33 and 34 without objection. IRP 924. But when the prosecution used its third peremptory against juror 40, Mr. Hogan objected, citing GR 37. 1RP 925. Following citation of the rule, defense counsel noted that juror 40 was" one of the only trans person on the jury. In the entire panel." 1RP 925. On the jury questionnaire, juror 40 identified as being Caucasian and declined to identify their gender. Ex. 104.

In seeking to strike juror 40, the prosecutor asserted the juror "struggled to sort of articulate their thoughts" and "seemed very uncomfortable." 1RP 925-26. Based on this, the prosecutor said the juror would be unable to "to take a position and stand up for it and communicate with other jurors." 1RP 926. The prosecutor further said, the juror "expressed significant concerns about the criminal justice system, which, of course, lots of people did, but it was hard to really get to the core of it." 1RP 926. The prosecutor resisted labeling the juror as transgender based on the juror's appearance and declining to answer as to gender identity. 1RP 924-25.

After reviewing the juror's answers to the questionnaire, the court permitted the strike. 1RP 926-27. The court reasoned

the prosecutor's answers showed the challenge was not based on the juror's identity, and were based on the juror being "reticent when answering questions" and the juror's view about the criminal justice system's historically harsh treatment of underrepresented groups of people. IRP 926-27; Ex. 104.

During trial, based on the prosecutor's objection, the court excluded medical records related to Ms. Falo's treatment at the hospital because—while they corroborated the testimony of witnesses called by the defense—they were "confusing" absent expert testimony. 2RP 1228-30.

The jury did not convict Mr. Hogan of intentional murder of Jerome or of first degree assault of Mr. Carter. CP 159, 164. The jury, however, found Mr. Hogan guilty of first degree manslaughter and felony murder predicated on second degree assault, along with a firearm enhancement. CP 160, 162-63. The court vacated the manslaughter conviction as violating the prohibition against double jeopardy. CP 315. On appeal, Mr. Hogan argued primarily that the trial court erred in overruling his GR 37 objection. In the published portion of the its opinion, the Court of Appeals held Mr. Hogan had not preserved this issue for review. Slip op. at 3-11. The court further held that even if Mr. Hogan's had preserved the issue for review, there was no GR 37 violation. Slip op. at 12-15. The court further rejected Mr. Hogan's claim that the prosecutor's peremptory against juror 40 violated the state and federal constitutions. Slip op. at 15-19.

In the unpublished portion, the court rejected Mr. Hogan's arguments that the trial court's exclusion of the medical records was a misapplication of the rules of evidence and a violation of his constitutional rights. Slip op. at 19-24. The court also rejected Mr. Hogan's argument that the charging document was constitutionally deficient. Slip op. at 25-26.

Without calling for an answer, the court quickly denied Mr. Hogan's motion to reconsider.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- Review should be granted to decide (1) whether simply citing to GR 37 in an objection is sufficient to preserve a claimed GR 37 violation for review; (2) whether review is de novo; and (3) whether the trial court erred by denying Mr. Hogan's objection to the prosecutor's peremptory challenge against juror 40.
 - a. The plain language of GR 37 requires only "simple citation" to the rule for an objection and most appellate court decisions hold review is de novo.

Criminal defendants have a state and federal

constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury trial. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *State v. Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d 345, 356, 518 P.3d 193 (2022).

"Racial bias has long infected our jury selection process." *Tesfasilasye*, **200** Wn.**2d** at 347. Peremptory challenges, which generally permit a party to strike a potential juror from the panel without providing a reason, "have a history of being used based largely or entirely on racial stereotypes or generalizations." *Id.* at 356. Although it is unconstitutional to strike a juror based on race, the constitutional test developed by the United States Supreme Court in *Batson*¹ to stop racial discrimination through peremptories has failed. *Id.* at 356-57. This is largely because the *Batson* framework did not "address the issue of unintentional, institutional, or unconscious race bias." *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 243, 429 P.3d 467 (2018) (cleaned up).

To reduce racial bias in jury selection, this Court enacted GR 37. *Id.* GR 37 is a broadly written rule aimed "to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity." GR 37(a).

Unlike the *Batson* framework, GR 37 does *not* require a prima facie showing of discriminatory purpose before requiring a justification from the party exercising the peremptory. GR 37(d); *State v. Hale*, 28 Wn. App. 2d 619, 630, 537 P.3d 707 (2023). And even where a party provides a race-neutral reason tending to a show a non-racial discriminatory purpose, this may

¹ Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986).

be insufficient to justify the strike.² GR 37(e); *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 357; *Hale*, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 630.

Rather than focusing solely on whether there is a discriminatory purpose by a party in using a peremptory, GR 37 requires a court to consider the "totality of the circumstances." GR 37(e). In this consideration, courts must sustain a GR 37 objection if "an objective observer *could* view race or ethnicity as *a* factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." GR 37(e) (emphases added).

An "objective observer is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in the unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington State." GR 37(f).

In making the determination about what an objective observer could conclude, GR 37 outlines several non-exclusive

² After GR 37 was enacted, the Washington Supreme Court modified the *Batson* framework (as permitted by *Batson*) to not require proof of purposeful discrimination. *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 229-30.

circumstances that should be considered. GR 37(g). This includes "whether a reason might be disproportionately associated with race or ethnicity." GR 37(g)(iv). Additionally, presumptively invalid reasons for a peremptory challenge include "expressing a distrust of law enforcement or a belief that law enforcement officers engage in racial profiling." GR 37 (h)(ii).

An allegation that a prospective juror "provided unintelligent or confused answers" as a reason for a peremptory challenge has "historically been associated with improper discrimination in jury selection in Washington State." GR 37(i). A party relying on this reason or similar reasons for a peremptory strike "must provide reasonable notice to the court and the other parties so the behavior can be verified and addressed in a timely manner." GR 37(i).

Significantly, "GR 37 does not state that the rule is meant to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on *the prospective juror* 's race or ethnicity." *State v. Harrison*, 26 Wn.

App. 2d 575, 585, 528 P.3d 849 (2023) (Lee, J., concurring). The rule "instead refers generally to 'race or ethnicity' with no limitations." *Id.*

Consequently, and consistent with considering the "totality of the circumstances," the race of *the defendant* is relevant in a GR 37 analysis. Id. at 585; State v. Walton, 29 Wn. App. 2d 789, 806, 542 P.3d 1041 (2024) (fact that defendant was Black was relevant under GR 37 in evaluating the proffered reasons for striking a white juror) review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1025, 556 P.3d 1113 (2014). Moreover, GR 37's plain language "clearly aims to broadly remove dismissal based on race and ethnicity, *including views about the same*, from the use of peremptory challenges." Walton, 29 Wn. App. 2d at 800. In other words, while GR 37 applies to all parties regardless of race, the race of the defendant is relevant in determining whether an objective observer could conclude race was a factor in the use of the peremptory.

A party raises an objection to a peremptory challenge simply by citing to the rule. GR 37(c). Once invoked, the trial court must conduct the GR 37 analysis. *State v. Listoe*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 321, 475 P.3d 534 (2020).

b. The published decision interpreting GR 37 conflicts with precedent and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

The Court of Appeals held that Mr. Hogan's "GR 37 objection is not properly raised." Slip op. at 6-7. The court reasoned that because defense counsel, in making his GR 37 objection, noted that the juror appeared to be transgender, this nullified the objection. The court reasoned that defense counsel's words presented a facially improper basis for a GR 37 objection because GR 37 applies to race discrimination in the use of peremptories, not sex or gender discrimination. Slip op. at 7-11.

But GR 37 does *not* require any showing of a discriminatory purpose before requiring a justification from the

party exercising the peremptory. GR 37(d); *Hale*, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 630. And the plain language of GR 37 says an objection is made "by simple citation" to the rule. GR 37(c). No basis for a GR 37 objection need be stated. *Listoe*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 321. All a court need to do is read the rule and apply it.

"The purpose of requiring an objection in general is to apprise the trial court of the claimed error at a time when the court has an opportunity to correct the error." *Blomstrom v. Tripp*, 189 Wn.2d 379, 394, 402 P.3d 831 (2017) (cleaned up). Here, Mr. Hogan's GR 37 objection was plain and all the trial court needed to do was apply the rule as written.

Rather than apply jurisprudence related objections and issue preservation, the Court of Appeals appeared to apply some version of the invited error doctrine without citing to it. The court reasoned that "Hogan *misdirected* the court . . . by volunteering solely a facially invalid basis for its GR 37 objection." Slip op. at 11 (emphasis added); *see also* oral argument at 17:00-10 (Judge Diaz stating that defense counsel

dug "a rabbit hole" by referring to the juror being transgender and that the State and the court ran down that hole).³

This is unfair. Absent counsel noting juror 40's appearance as transgender, nothing in the record would have showed this. The record does not show that defense counsel affirmatively misdirected the court or set up the error, so invited error does not apply. *See Matter of Dependency of A.L.K.*, 196 Wn.2d 686, 696, 478 P.3d 63, 68 (2020). And no one argued invited error, making it inapplicable as an issue. RAP 12.1(a); *Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 2 Wn.3d 36, 50-51, 534 P.3d 339 (2023).

Here, notwithstanding the discussion of juror 40's status as transgender or non-transgender, the record plainly shows the prosecution used a peremptory challenge against juror 40 due to the juror's concerns about racial injustice. 1RP 743-49, 802, 924-27; Ex. 104. But for Mr. Hogan being Black, it is very

³ <u>https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-</u> 2024091210/

unlikely the prosecutor would have used the peremptory, as

shown by the prosecutor's focus on Mr. Hogan's race during

voir dire. RP 743-45, 830-34.

The Court of Appeals in Walton recognized that,

regardless of the race of the challenged juror, this kind of

conduct by a prosecutor implicates GR 37:

an objective observer could view race as a factor in the State's peremptory challenge of this juror who expressed a distrust of law enforcement based on concerns about racism in policing, specifically police brutality surrounding the Black Lives Matter movement. The fact that Walton is a Black man centered those perspectives in a way that may not have occurred if the accused was a White person.

Walton, 29 Wn. App. 2d at 806. The Walton Court went on to

note:

The State intentionally focused on this particular dynamic in its questioning of juror 22 when it asked, "So, we do have police and we have an African American defendant. How does that make you feel?" The State's explanation offered on appeal about its framing of the challenge to juror 22 strengthens the conclusion that the race of the accused could have been a factor therein. When asked at oral argument whether the State would have made these peremptory challenges if the defendant was White, the attorney for the State responded that they "can't say about juror 22 as the reading did seem to be associated with juror 22's views on police themselves and their dealings with people of color." Wash. Ct. of Appeals oral argument, *supra*, at 17 min. 46 sec.

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