FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/21/2025 2:04 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 103824-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

NIGEL SINCLAIR HOGAN,

Petitioner.

### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986).

attorney did not press the matter further or make an objection on any other basis.

Now, in his petition for review, Hogan focuses on general statements in the juror's questionnaire about criminal justice issues, extrapolates from those general statements that they are opinions about race, and argues that GR 37 should prevent excusal of any juror who makes virtually any critical statement about the justice system, no matter how generalized those statements may be. But GR 37 is intended to end racial discrimination in jury selection, not to prevent excusal of all jurors of any race who express the not-uncommon opinion that the justice system can be unfair. No matter how Hogan frames his arguments, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Hogan's GR 37 claim was neither preserved nor supported by the record.

This Court should deny review.

### B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). Hogan's claims do not meet these criteria.

### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

1. Should this Court deny review of Hogan's claim that merely speaking the words "GR 37" preserves all possible GR 37-related claims, even where the record

does not support the only basis stated in the trial court, i.e., that the prospective juror was transgender?

- 2. Should this Court deny review of Hogan's claim that a heightened *Batson* standard should apply to gender identity when the record does not support a conclusion that the prospective juror was transgender, or indeed, any conclusion regarding the juror's gender?
- 3. Should this Court deny review of Hogan's claim that the Court of Appeals should have accepted a brief that was not authorized by the Rules of Appellate Procedure?
- 4. Should this Court deny review of Hogan's claim of evidentiary error that is subject to the deferential abuse-of-discretion standard?
- 5. Should this Court deny review of Hogan's claim of purported error in a charging document that has already been rejected by this Court?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nigel Hogan was charged with second-degree murder and first-degree assault, both with firearm enhancements, for fatally shooting Jerome Jackson and seriously injuring Paul Carter III in October 2015.<sup>2</sup> CP 1-2. The jury found Hogan guilty of second-degree murder<sup>3</sup> but could not reach unanimity on the first-degree assault charge. CP 160-63, 317-19. The trial court imposed a standard-range sentence of 222 months on the murder charge. CP 306-10.

During jury selection, the State exercised its third peremptory challenge to strike prospective Juror 40. 1RP 925. The defense objected, stating as follows:

And defense would like to raise a GR 37 argument to that. This individual is one of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For a detailed description of these crimes, *see* Brief of Respondent, No. 84796-1-I, at 3-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The jury also found Hogan guilty of first-degree manslaughter; that charge was vacated to avoid double jeopardy. CP 315-16.

only trans persons on the jury. In the entire panel.

1RP 925. This is the only record defense counsel made regarding the objection; nothing further was stated. The only information in the record regarding the juror's gender identity was the response "prefer not to answer" on a questionnaire.<sup>4</sup> Ex. 104; 1RP 925. The juror self-identified as "Caucasian." Ex. 104.

The State argued that defense counsel was making an unfounded assumption as to the juror's gender identity based only on the juror's appearance. 1RP 925-26. In addition, the State noted that the juror was very uncomfortable discussing their political views in front of the other jurors (although those views were shared by many other jurors), expressed concern that the juror would have difficulty expressing their opinions during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The other options were "Female," "Male," and "Nonbinary." Ex. 104.

deliberations, and argued that there was no possibility that an objective person would believe the State was striking the juror "based on an outside possibility that they were transgender." 1RP 925-26.

In overruling defense counsel's GR 37 objection, the trial court agreed that there was no basis upon which to conclude that the juror was transgender and that it was not apparent to the court that the juror was transgender. The court also confirmed that the State's observations about the juror's difficulty answering questions were correct. 1RP 926-27. Defense counsel made no further arguments and provided no other basis for objecting to the peremptory challenge. Defense counsel said nothing to challenge the trial court's findings regarding the juror's gender or their difficulty answering questions.

Juror 40 had made the following statements in their questionnaire: (1) they had "strong feelings" about excessive force used by police; (2) they were dismayed

that law enforcement comprised such a large portion of the city's budget; and (3) they thought the justice system was "too harsh," particularly with respect to "underrepresented groups" and "poor people." Ex. 104. None of these statements mentioned race, or, for that matter, gender. In response to a specific question about racial or ethnic bias, Juror 40 had written that "depending on how you grew up," people could have "racial biases toward people of color and people with different ethnic backgrounds." Ex 104. Defense counsel did not cite or rely on this information when objecting to the State's peremptory challenge.

### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REVIEW A GR 37 CLAIM THAT IS NEITHER PRESERVED NOR SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

In its opinion affirming Hogan's conviction and sentence, the Court of Appeals held that the objection

based on the juror's purported gender identity was an invalid objection under GR 37, and that merely stating the words "GR 37" is insufficient to preserve claims on other grounds that were not raised in the trial court. Slip op. at 5-11. These holdings are correct. Although GR 37 provides that citing the rule is sufficient to trigger further discussion outside the presence of the venire in the trial court, there must still be an adequate record of the basis for the objection to preserve the issue for appeal. Here, the words "GR 37" were spoken when the jury was already absent, and the only basis for the objection was that the prospective juror was transgender. This is not a valid objection under GR 37, and it is insufficient to preserve claims on any other basis.

GR 37(c) provides that an objection "shall be made by simple citation to this rule," but that is not the end of the sentence. To the contrary, the rule further provides that "any further discussion shall be conducted outside the presence of the panel." GR 37(c). Here, the GR 37 objection was made when the jurors were not present, and thus, further discussion as contemplated by GR 37(c) followed immediately. 1RP 924-27. It is undisputed that the only basis Hogan's attorney stated on the record was that the prospective juror was transgender; nothing further was said to elaborate upon the basis for the objection, and no further arguments were made. 1RP 925.

The use of peremptory challenges is not an issue of constitutional magnitude. *State v. Lupastean*, 200 Wn.2d 26, 47-48, 513 P.3d 781 (2022). Accordingly, arguments that were not raised in the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Mason*, 160 Wn.2d 910, 933, 162 P.3d 396 (2007) (an objection at trial that evidence is "prejudicial" is insufficient to preserve an appellate claim that the evidence is "irrelevant"). The only claim preserved for appeal in this case was an objection on grounds that the juror was transgender. As the Court

of Appeals correctly held, this is not a valid objection based on the plain language of GR 37, which expressly prohibits peremptory challenges based on race or ethnicity. Slip op. at 5-7. Thus, "by affirmatively asserting a facially improper basis for a GR 37 objection, i.e., one bereft of any declared relationship to race or ethnicity, a GR 37 objection is not properly raised and is properly denied." Slip op. at 6-7.

A timely objection on appropriate grounds allows a trial court "an opportunity to address an issue before it becomes an error on appeal," and failing to timely object on appropriate grounds "deprive[s] judges of the opportunity to correct errors as they happen." *State v. Kalebaugh*, 183 Wn.2d 578, 583, 355 P.3d 253 (2015). Merely stating the words "GR 37" is not sufficient to trigger the trial court's consideration of all theoretical arguments, raised or not.

In arguing that the Court of Appeals erred by holding that unstated grounds for a GR 37 objection were not preserved, Hogan conflates the de novo standard of review for GR 37 claims with basic principles of error preservation. See Petition at 22-24. These two concepts are not the same. While it is true that GR 37 claims are subject to *de novo* review, this means only that the reviewing court stands in the same position as the trial court in applying the "objective observer" legal standard. State v. Tesfasilasye, 200 Wn.2d 345, 355-56, 518 P.3d 193 (2022). It does not mean that GR 37 claims need not be supported by an adequate record, or that all possible arguments may be made for the first time on appeal regardless of the existing record. In other words, the reviewing court looks at the same record that the trial court had before it and determines whether the trial court's legal conclusions were sound based on the record that was made; it does not read facts into the record that

do not exist. For example, the *de novo* standard of review applies to a trial court's decision to grant a motion for summary judgment, but the appellate court is confined to the existing record that the trial court considered when performing that *de novo* review. *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

Hogan also urged the Court of Appeals to expand the scope of GR 37, arguing that because transgender individuals experience discrimination themselves in general, they are especially attuned to discrimination based on race or ethnicity, and thus, GR 37 should apply. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this claim as well.

First, this argument was also not preserved. As the Court of Appeals stated, "In the entirety of the dialogue [with the juror], there is no reference to race or ethnicity, or any indication that race or ethnicity is related to the basis on which Hogan brought the objection." Slip op. at 8. But more importantly, the record simply does not

support the conclusion that the juror was transgender. As the trial court found, the juror had "not identified as transgender" in their questionnaire, and it was "not apparent" to the trial court "that they were transgender" at all. Slip op. at 4 (emphasis in original). Therefore, the record is insufficient to review a claim that GR 37 encompasses transgender identity or expression, because the factual predicate for this claim does not exist.<sup>5</sup>

The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that the trial judge's firsthand observations of the juror must be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As the Court of Appeals also observed, case law holds that GR 37 does not apply to gender "or any other protected status covered by the equal protection clause and our state constitution" other than race or ethnicity. *State v. Brown*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 541, 554, 506 P.3d 1258, *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1029 (2022). "The purpose of this rule is to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity." GR 37(a). The rule is aimed at curing discrimination *in jury selection*, not all discrimination in general, nor could it ever accomplish such an impossible task.

given deference on appeal. Slip op. at 13. As this Court recently held, when a decision relies on the trial judge's ability to assess a juror's "responses, demeanor, and tone in context, appellate review is appropriately restrained." State v. Smith, 3 Wn.3d 718, 727, 555 P.3d 850 (2024). This principle should apply with equal force to the trial court's direct observations of the juror's physical appearance, which no appellate court can replicate. Here, the trial court made firsthand observations of the juror's appearance, and their demeanor and tone when answering the parties' questions. These firsthand observations are entitled to deference, and this Court should deny review for this reason as well.

Despite the grounds upon which the Court of
Appeals correctly decided this case, Hogan now changes
focus. Specifically, he now focuses upon the generalized
statements the juror made in their questionnaire, and
invites this Court to accept review and expand GR 37

beyond "eliminat[ing] the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity" to eliminating exclusion of potential jurors based on their views that systems can be unfair. Particularly on this inadequate record, this Court should decline that invitation.

The primary support Hogan offers for his proposed GR 37 expansion is *State v. Walton*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 789, 542 P.3d 1041, *review denied*, 3 Wn.3d 1025 (2024), in which the court held that GR 37 prevents excusing jurors based on their opinions about racial issues, regardless of the jurors' race or ethnicity. *Walton* is readily distinguishable. In *Walton*, the two jurors whom the court held were erroneously excused—both of whom identified as white—specifically discussed the issue of racial discrimination in their answers to questions during voir dire. *Walton*, 29 Wn. App. 2d at 803-09. Here, by contrast, Juror 40 expressed only "generalized misgivings"

about the criminal justice system,"<sup>6</sup> and made statements about racial bias "only at the highest level of generality."<sup>7</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly held that such general opinions are insufficient to preclude excusing a juror under GR 37—particularly in a case where those general opinions were never mentioned as a basis for defense counsel's objection.

Lastly, it must be noted that Hogan falsely asserts that the State challenged Juror 40 specifically based on "the fact of *Mr. Hogan being a person of color.*" Petition at 22 (emphasis in original). The purported basis for this assertion are: (1) the prosecutor's questions during voir dire, asking whether prospective jurors could be fair in light of the fact that Hogan is a person of color, and (2) Juror 40's aforementioned generalized answers to the written questionnaire. Petition at 5-8. In making this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Slip op. at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Slip op. at 9.

argument, however, Hogan presents Juror 40's generalized written statements as if they were verbal statements made in response to the prosecutor's questions. Petition at 7-8. This mischaracterization of the record should not go unnoticed, as it is the only way in which Hogan attempts to tie Juror 40's generalized statements directly to the issue of race. There simply is no connection between the prosecutor's questions and the juror's written statements, which were written *before* in-court questioning even began. This Court should deny review.

2. THE HEIGHTENED BATSON STANDARD FOR PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES BASED ON RACE OR ETHNICITY DOES NOT APPLY TO GENDER IDENTITY.

Hogan further urges this Court to review his claim that the heightened *Batson* standard declared in *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 (2018), provides

an alternative basis for a new trial in this case. But this claim suffers the same fundamental infirmity as those raised under GR 37—i.e., it lacks supporting facts. In addition, this claim was not raised in the trial court. Accordingly, to raise it for the first time on appeal, Hogan must demonstrate a manifest constitutional error affecting his constitutional rights under RAP 2.5(a). See Brown, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 550. An alleged error is not "manifest" under this rule unless the defendant establishes an issue of constitutional magnitude that has resulted in actual prejudice to his rights at trial. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Hogan cannot meet this burden.

In Jefferson, this Court held that the longstanding Batson test for racial discrimination in jury selection was inadequate. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d at 239-43.

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